IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 84,113

FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 5 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By ______Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES WALKER,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1958

CHRISTINA A. SPAULDING Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 995320

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Appellant James Walker was indicted on September 15,1993 for two counts of premeditated first degree murder. (R. 1-2) A superseding indictment returned on January 12, 1994 added two counts of kidnapping and one count of burglary of a vehicle with an assault or battery therein. (S.R. 2-5) The case was originally assigned to the Honorable Arthur Snyder, who presided over several pretrial proceedings, including a hearing on Mr. Walker's motion to suppress. (T. 109) The case was subsequently transferred to the Honorable Michael salmon for trial, which commenced on January 31, 1994. (T. 307; R. 22) On February 10, 1994 the case was submitted to the jury which found Mr. Walker guilty as charged on all five counts; the court thereafter adjudged him guilty. (T. 1553-54; R. 49,331-37) The penalty phase of the trial began on April 21, 1994. (T. 1654; R. 51) On April 25, 1994, by a vote of 7 to 5, the jury recommended that Mr. Walker be sentenced to death on both counts of first degree murder. (T. 2293; R. 436-37) The trial judge followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Walker to death on May 19, 1994. (T. 234041; R. 577-84)

Guilt/Innocence Phase

On August 22,1993, Miami firefighters responding to a reported brush fire found the body of an unidentified African-American woman near the canal in Sewell Park on South River Drive in Miami; her hands were bound with duct tape and she had duct tape over her eyes and mouth. (T. 912-13,938-39,987) The following day, August 23, Metro-Dade homicide detectives Thomas Watterson and Willie Everett issued a press release seeking help in identifying the body. (T. 119) At about 1 p.m. on August 23, in response to the press release, Joseph Clark contacted Detective Everett and subsequently identified the body at the Medical Examiner's office as that of his sister-in-law Joanne Jones. (T. 120) Mr. Clark informed the police that Ms. Jones' child and car were also missing. (T.

120) Upon returning to Sewell Park, police found the body of Quinton Jones, Ms. Jones' 17-month old son, 25-30 feet north of where her body had been found; his nose and mouth were covered with duct tape. (T. 121, 992-93, 1002-03, 1008) Mr. Clark and other members of Ms. Jones' family told the homicide detectives that Ms. Jones had been having problems with her boyfriend, James Walker, who worked as a bailiff at the Metro-Justice Building. Ms. Jones had sued Mr. Walker to establish his paternity of Quinton and to obtain child support. (T. 122, 176) Ms. Jones' family also asserted that Mr. Walker had once sexually assaulted Ms. Jones who had "gone to court" and lost. (T. 122, 176) They did not like Mr. Walker, and characterized his relationship with Ms. Jones as unfriendly. (T. 122, 175-76)

Motion to Suppress

Mr. Walker was questioned by the police on August 24, 1993 and gave three statements, the last of which was inculpatory. Defense counsel moved before trial to suppress Mr. Walker's inculpatory statement on three grounds (1) he had invoked his right to counsel during the interrogation, and the police had improperly continued questioning him without clarifying the request; (2) that under the totality of the circumstances his statements were not made voluntarily, and (3) that the third statement was the product of an unlawful arrest because the police did not have probable cause to arrest Mr. Walker for first degree murder. (T. 227-34; R. 91-92) The hearing on the motion to suppress was held on January 26, 1994 before the Honorable Arthur Snyder. (T. 109) The testimony presented at the suppression hearing established the following:

On the morning of August 24, Detectives Watterson and Everett received a phone call from Mr. Walker and asked him to come to police headquarters. (T. 123,177) Mr. Walker said he would have to ask his employer for permission to leave. (T. 123, 177) After this conversation, detectives Everett and Watterson went to the courthouse to pick up Mr. Walker. (T. 177) In the meantime, however, Mr. Walker had left for Metro-Dade police headquarter. (T. 177) When detectives Everett and Watterson returned to headquarters, they escorted Mr. Walker to a windowless interrogation room, approximately 25 feet by 10-12 feet, and proceeded to question him for at least six hours. (T. 123-25,

165,177-78,202) As they advised Mr. Walker of his Miranda rights, the police assured him that they were required to give Miranda warnings to everyone they interviewed in a homicide investigation; Mr. Walker executed a rights waiver form at 9:40 a.m.. (T. 126, 156-57, 178, 198-99; R. 273) Detectives Watterson and Everett acknowledged later that Mr. Walker was in fact their only suspect, and they did not advise him of his true status. (T. 156,198) In response to the officers' inquiries, Mr. Walker first stated that, although he had spoken to Ms. Jones by telephone on August 21 about *qoing* to the movies that evening, she had decided not to come, and he had not seen her that day. (T. 129-30, 180, 1245-46) Representing that they needed fingerprints for "elimination," the detectives then asked Mr. Walker to sign a form allowing them to take his photo and fingerprints. (T. 133-34, 181-82, **1254)** As Mr. Walker finished signing the form, Detective Watterson told Mr. Walker they had either removed "his" fingerprint or "a" fingerprint from the duct tape taken from "the victim" or "the victim, Joanne," although the police at that time had not, in fact, recovered any fingerprints from the duct tape. (T. 135, 161, 182,203, 1255) Watterson and Everett both testified that lying to suspects is part of their "interview technique." (T. 161, 204) According to the detectives, Mr. Walker became flushed and nervous and said he wasn't sure he should sign the form. (T. 135, 182, 1255) The police returned the form to him, and Mr. Walker stared at it, with his head down. (T. 135, 182-83)

The police told Mr. Walker they did not believe his statement; they knew he was having trouble with Joanne; there had been an alleged sexual assault; a dispute over child support; and an altercation at the courthouse. (T. 136) The detectives had not verified this information at the time of the interrogation.² (T. 155, 176, 195) When Mr. Walker said he and Ms. Jones had been worlung their

Detective Watterson explained at trial that he is trained in "lawful" interview techniques and commonly uses these to get witnesses and suspects "to be truthful;" falsely claiming to have evidence against the suspect is one of the methods commonly used by the police. (T. 1256)

² In fact, although **Ms.** Jones had reported **an** alleged sexual assault, no charges were ever **filed**. **(T. 155)** Similarly, another bailiff had erroneously reported that Mr. Walker had **an** argument with Ms. Jones at the court house. **(T. 153-54)**

problems out, (T. 136-37), Detective Watterson showed him a "disgusting," "horrible" photograph of Quinton Jones' partially decomposed body floating in the water and said "the person who did this did a terrible thing." (T. 137-38,207;R, 99) Detective Everett later explained that confronting Mr. Walker with the gruesome photo was another "interview technique." (T. 1403)

Mr. Walker continued to deny any involvement in the homicides, and Detectives Watterson and Everett continued to tell him they did not believe him and that he should "clear his conscience" and tell them what really happened. (T. 138-39) Mr. Walker then gave a second statement, in which he said that he had met Joanne and Quinton Jones at the movie theater on the evening of August 21 and that the three of them had been abducted by two assailants who forced Mr. Walker to duct tape Joanne and Quinton and then released Mr. Walker near the Orange Bowl, threatening to kill him if he told anyone. (T. 139-40, 184-85, 1272-74, 1373-74) Detective Watterson yelled at Mr. Walker that he was "full of shit" and "that was the worse [sic] story I ever heard in all the time I ever been a police officer." (T. 140-41, 165, 1274, 1374) Detective Watterson told Mr. Walker that "[n]obody in the world was going to believe" him; "God wasn't going to believe him, his co-workers wasn't [sic] going to believe him, and we certainly didn't believe him." (T. 141-42) The detectives had learned before the interview that Mr. Walker was a deacon in his church and testified that they both therefore invoked **God** "several times" during the interrogation. **(T. 158, 163, 201, 205-06, 208, 1294)** Watterson testified that they also employed the good guy - bad guy "technique." (T. 161-62) Watterson, who is white, played **the** belligerent role, while Everett, who is African-Americanlike Mr. Walker, played the sympathetic role.³ (T. 161-62, 212, 215)

Detective Watterson left Mr. Walker alone with Detective Everett for about **20-30 minutes**. **(T. 141)** Everett continued to tell Walker he was lying. **(T. 186)** When Detective Watterson returned,

³ Detective Everett denied that he and Watterson had deliberately employed the "**good guy**, bad guy" technique, saying it had "just turned out that way" because Watterson became "upset" about the crime and yelled at Walker. (T. 204-05, 1401) Everett acknowledged that his interrogation "style" is generally to establish a rapport with the suspect. (T. 205, 1403) Everett also denied there was a "racial problem" between Mr. Walker and Detective Watterson. (T. 212)

Everett advised him that Mr. Walker would not change his story. (T. 141) Mr. Walker was then placed under arrest for two counts of first degree murder. (T. 142, 166, 187, 209) The Miranda warnings were not renewed. (T. 210) Mr. Walker was told "you are not leaving this room so you may as well start telling the truth." (T. 187) When Mr. Walker would not change his Statement, "something was said about if you want to stick to that story, we want to get it on tape or we want to bring in a stenographer." (T. 142, 186, 1276) Mr. Walker said, "If you do that," or "If I do that," "I want an attorney." (T. 142, 186, 1276) Detective Watterson testified that the officers simply responded "okay, we won't do that" and continued the interrogation. (T. 142, 1277) Detective Everett testified that, before the interrogation continued, Walker was further asked whether he wanted to continue talking and answered affirmatively. (T. 186) Detective Watterson left the interview room to tell the stenographer she would not be needed and returned with Lieutenant Meeks, the commander of the homicide unit, who spoke to Mr. Walker alone for about 15 minutes. (T. 142-43, 168) Lieutenant Meeks testified that Walker told him he had been abducted in Ms. Jones' are and was made to put duct tape over Joanne's and Quinton's mouths, (T. 224-25) Meeks told Walker he did not

The testimony **regarding** the chronology of **these** events was conflicting. Watterson testified on direct at the suppression hearing that Walker **was** arrested after the police asked for a **transcribed** statement (T. 142-43) but **testified** on cross and at trial that **the** arrest was first. (T. 166-67, 1276-77). Everett testified on direct at the suppression hearing that Walker was arrested "shortly after" the request for a transcribed statement (T. 186-87) but acknowledged **on** cross (based apparently on the police **report**) that Walker was arrested first (T. 209-10). Because **the** later testimony of **both** detectives places the arrest before the request for a recorded statement, it is assumed hereafter that this version is correct.

⁵ He **stated** at trial that Mr. Walker's request for **an** attorney was not honored because the detectives did not want **an** attorney present at the interrogation. (T. 1301-02)

⁶ At trial, Detective Everett testified that Mr. Walker said nothing about wanting **an** attorney but had said only, "if you do that I don't want to talk." (T. 1377)

⁷ Meeks elaborated at trial that he told Walker it was obvious he wasn't telling **the truth** and that it would eat him up and kill him if he didn't tell the truth. **(T. 1323)** Walker denied **committing** the homicides, and Meeks **responded** that everyone in **the** room, including Walker, **knew** he had killed Ms. Jones. **(T. 1323)** Meeks told Walker to tell Detectives Watterson and Everett the truth. **(T. 1323)** Meeks testified that Walker then asked to speak to him alone. **(T. 1324)**

believe this story. **(T. 225) Mesks testified** that Walker then said he didn't do it by **himself**, that **there** were two other people with **him**. **(T. 225, 1327) Mesks** said he also told Walker there "probably was someone else with you" but "you know who they are and you are the one that planned it," and that Walker **agreed**. **8 (T. 225, 1327-28) Meeks** did not tell Detectives Everett and Watterson, however, that Walker had confessed to him. Rather, they both testified that Meeks told them, upon emerging from the interrogation room, that Walker was sticking to the abduction story. **(T. 143, 168, 215) Mesks** told Walker there was no need for his family to be involved. **(T. 224)**

Walker ultimately asked to speak to Everett without Watterson in the room. (T. 169)

Detective Everett warned Walker that he was facing the death penalty and urged him "man to man, brother to brother, let me help you out." (T. 215-16) Everett said this was "part of [his] interview technique." (T. 215) Everett told Walker "over and over" that, if Walker told the truth, Everett would tell the assistant state attorney and the judge that he had cooperated. (T. 216-18, 1415). Walker started to cry, and Detective Everett took his hands and told him it would be all right to cry and cried with him. (T. 215-16, 1378, 1413, 1417, 1422) Everett also characterized this as part of his "technique." (T. 216, 1412) Sometime between 1 and 2 p.m., while Everett was alone with Walker, Walker admitted to killing Joanne and Quinton Jones. (T. 189,216)

⁸ In his testimony at trial, Meeks added that Walker told him he didn't want to hurt Joanne, they had been having some problems, Joanne had taken him to court for child support and Walker wanted to talk to her to work things out, so he called Joanne to meet him at the movies. (T. 1324) Meeks also testified that Mr. Walker said he had been dating Ms. Jones for some time before he met his present wife; Ms. Jones became pregnant; Mr. Walker urged to her have an abortion; and she refused. (1325)

At some point, Meeks returned to the conference room and Detective Everett said Walker was still sticking to the same story (T. 226) At trial, Meeks testified he had asked to speak to Walker again. (T. 1328) Meeks told Walker that he should be a man and take responsibility for what he had done; he told Walker to tell Detective Everett the truth, to "get it off his chest so it wouldn't kill him." (T. 1328) Meeks then left Walker alone with Detective Everett. (T. 144, 1278, 1328-29)

¹⁰ At trial, Everett agreed that he had promised to help Walker if Walker told the **truth** and cooperated. (T. **1416**)

According to Detective Everett, Walker said he met Ms. Jones to **go** to the movies at the **163rd** street mall, and they decided to go for a drive to discuss their problems with child support. (**T. 189, 1378-79**) They drove to Sewell **Park** and walked by the water. (**T. 189-90, 1379-80**) They **argued,** and Ms. Jones slapped Mr. Walker, who then choked her and **hocked** her to the ground. (**T. 190, 1380-81**) She was unconscious and, finding some duct **tape** on the ground, Mr. Walker said he duct **taped** her, lifted her over the chain link fence, and put her in the water. (**T. 144-45, 190, 1381**) Ms. **Jones** had dropped Quinton when she was knocked to the **ground**, and Mr. Walker duct **taped** Quinton's mouth **and** also put him in the water. (**T. 145, 191, 1381**) Mr. Walker drove Ms. Jones' **car** to Overtown then back up to **the** 163rd street mall where he left it and drove home in **his** own **car**. (**T. 191, 1381**) The next **day**, Mr. Walker **called** Ms. Jones' apartment and left a message **asking** her to *call* him; Mr. Walker told Detective Everett he didn't thirk Joanne was dead. (**T. 191-92**) When **Detective** Watterson returned to the interrogation room, Detective Everett related to him Walker's third statement. (**T. 144,1382**) Detective Watterson did not hear Mr. Walker **make** the statement. (**T. 169**)

Detective Watterson proposed a **second time** to bring in a stenographer, **and** Mr. Walker again stated "ifyou do that, I want an attorney here." (T. **146**) Detective Watterson testified that he again responded, "we won't do that then." (T. **146**) Detective Everett, however, claimed they had further inquired whether Mr. Walker was willing to continue **speaking** to them, **and** he had answered affirmatively. (T. **191**) Although Mr. Walker insisted he acted alone, **the** detectives brought Walker's brother, Quinton Rogers, who had **been** brought to **the** station for questioning, into the interrogation **rocm**, and Mr. Rogers told Mr. Walker that he had admitted **being** with him on the **night** of **August 21**. (T. **192**) Mr. Walker then **stated** that his brother had **been** with him but had **stayed** in the car while he and Ms. Jones went to the park. (T. **147**)

After argument by counsel, the trial judge denied the motion to suppress, ruling that the interview techniques **used** by the police were permissible and that Mr. Walker's statement was voluntarily given. (T. 250-51)

Ms. Jones' red Mazda Protégé was found within a mile of the 163rd street mall in North Miami. (T. 954,1382) The left rear passenger door of the *car* had been damaged and the interior *cf* the *car* was in disarray. (T. 956-57) There were tears in the fabric on the rear seats and small blood stains on the seat covers, the interior of the left rear door, and on *the* ceiling. (T. 958) Several pieces of duct tape with blood and hair on them were found in the car. (T. 960-61)

Victor Alpizar of the serology section of the Metro-Dade crime lab performed tests on the stains in Ms. Jones' car and collected samples for DNA testing. (T. 1082) Dr. Roger Kahn of the crime lab's DNA section performed polymerase chain reaction ("PCR") testing on these samples and on a cigarette filter found in the ashtray of Ms. Jones' car. (T. 1118, 1128, 1143) The DNA from the filter was found to be type 1.1, 1.2- the type shared by Mr. Walker and his brother Willie Rogers and 12.2% of the African-American population, 6% of Caucasians and 4.8% of Hispanics. (T. 1142-43, 1146-47) Defense counsel moved both before and during trial to exclude the DNA evidence under section 90.702, Florida Statutes, because it did not clarify any issues for the jury and was of limited probative value; the motion was denied. (T. 821-22, 862, 1129-31, 1154) Dr. Kahn acknowledged that **the** DNA test **results** did not establish who smoked the cigarette or when. **(T. 1149)** Mr. Walker does not smoke (T. 1218), and there was no evidence presented regarding Willie Rogers' smoking habits. All of the blood stains submitted for DNA testing were found to match Joanne Jones' DNA type. (T. 1141-42) All of the duct tape found in the car and removed from Joanne and Quinton Jones was processed for fingerprints; only one piece yielded results. (T. 949, 973-74) Guillermo Martin, fingerprint technician, for the **Miami**. Police **testified** that a print on the interior surface of the duct tape removed from Joanne Jones' body matched Mr. Walker's prints. (T. 1316-17) Mr. Walker's fingerprints were not found in Ms. Jones' car or apartment. (T. 1319)

Mr. Walker's wife, Vanessa Walker, testified that, in **the** week leading up to August **21**, **1993**, she had noticed James **and** his brother, Quinton Rogers, whispering to each other, and she thought this

was unusual. 11 (T. 1212-13) She could not hear what they were saving. (T. 1216-17) James and Quinton left the house together about 7:30 p.m. on August 21 and returned together about 12:30 a.m. (T. 1213-14) James took a shower, then called his mother. (T. 1215) Mrs. Walker overheard James tell his mother that he and Ouinton had picked up Willie at her house and gone to find their sister. Linda, who had been injured in a fight with her boyfriend earlier in the day. (T. 1215-16) The following morning, Mrs, Walker noticed that James was washing his and Quinton's clothes. (T. 1216) Sometime in 1991 -- over a year before the homicides -- she had seen a roll of duct tape in a beige bag that James generally kept in the trunk of his car. (T. 1210-11) In the week leading up to August 21, 1993, she had seen a pair of rubber gloves in another bag that James carried with him. (T. 1211) The day James was arrested, Vanessa gave a roll of duct tape to the police. (T. 1223) This tape did not match the tape taken from the victims, (T. 1113-14) Vanessa had learned in 1991 that James was having an affair with Joanne Jones. (T. 1221) She learned later that James had a child with Joanne. when she looked through one of his bags and found his check stubs, reflecting the child support deductions. 12 (T. 1223) She denied being angry about it and said she had accepted it. (T. 1220) Vanessa also **testified** that, while he was in jail, James told her that he hadn't planned the killings, someone else had suggested it, and two other people were involved; he had only watched. (T. 1217-18)

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