#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### CASE NO. **84,113**

JAMES WALKER

Appellant,

H		ت	Ľ.	D
	SiD	J. W	hite	
			1996	
	( SUF		Aë CĊ	URT
By		Ľ	and -	

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

#### AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPEL JEE AND INITIAL BRIEF OF JR( PPEL

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

#### FARIBA N. KOMEILY

Assistant Attorney General Florida **Bar** No. 0375934 Office of Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) **377-5441** 



#

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

#### C. Harmless Error Analysis

The Appellant's final variation of this argument is that the error ensuing from the interjection of "future dangerousness" into the trial cannot be deemed harmless. Based on the State's prior arguments herein, it is again submitted that no error was committed and that future dangerousness was not so interjected into the case. The expert never answered the pending question; the prosecutor did not argue future dangerousness in closing argument; and the jury was instructed to consider only the expressly enumerated aggravating circumstances. As will be seen from the ensuing arguments herein, however, the trial court's sentencing order was based on substantial and extensive aggravating factors, which that court concluded, even after accepting mental mitigators, "not only outweigh the mitigating circumstances, they overwhelm them." (R. 583). As such, any possible error with respect to the foregoing matters must be deemed harmless.

63

At this point, the State would briefly note a few things, however. The Appellant's harmless error analysis essentially portrays the defendant as a low IQ person with organic brain damage and serious mental illness. Such a portrait is inaccurate. While one expert stated that the defendant's IQ was slightly below a low-average range, with a score of 76, virtually all of the other defense witnesses, including several family members and a psychologist who had interacted with defendant over a course of 22 sessions, asserted that the defendant was above average intelligence. He communicated extremely well. He graduated from high school, went into the military service, and held a position as a court-bailiff for the better part of eight years. The aforesaid psychologist, and even defense expert, Dr. Toomer, expressly stated that the defendant did not suffer from any major mental illness. His personality disorder was not uncommon, and essentially boiled down to nothing more than difficulty in dealing with stressful situations. As to the question of organic brain damage, no medical doctor or psychiatrist ever gave any such opinion, and, as detailed in the Statement of the Case and Facts, Dr. Eisenstein's opinion was based, in large part, on the highly subjective tests which were administered by Dr. Toomer, who, while acknowledging the subjective nature of those examinations, also acknowledged that the portrait he obtained of the defendant was that of a person who manipulated others for the purpose of obtaining his own ends. As to the defendant's allegedly abusive childhood, the record reflects that the defendant had a rather stable childhood, living with his father from the age of 1% until he graduated high school and went into the military. For most of that time, the father resided with his wife, the defendant's stepmother, and, for the remainder of that time, the defendant's grandmother lived in the same residence. Throughout most of that time, the defendant's aunt, and her family, provided the defendant with a closely knit family, which provided emotional, moral and religious support. The worst that could be said of the familial relationships was that the father was not a particularly nice man and that he beat the defendant when

the defendant misbehaved, such as when the defendant set a closet on fire. Whatever significance the childhood had, it was extremely remote at the time of the murders, as the defendant was, by then, in his early thirties, and he had been out of that household since he became a young and emancipated adult, upon high school graduation, some 15 years earlier. Those matters, upon which the Appellant focuses, in the harmless error analysis, are therefore not particularly compelling, when evaluated in the context of rather overwhelming aggravating factors: (1) HAC; (2) CCP; (3) contemporaneous conviction for another violent felony - i.e., the double murder; and (4) pecuniary gain. The foregoing matters are dealt with somewhat cursorily at this point, as the various mitigating and aggravating factors will be revisited throughout the remainder of the arguments addressing the Appellant's sentencing phase claims.

## VI.

# TESTIMONY REGARDING DEATH BY DROWNING WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED DURING THE PENALTY PHASE PROCEEDINGS.

During the guilt-phase proceedings, Dr. Williams testified, without objection, that Ms. Jones' death was caused by a combination of drowning, manual strangulation, and smothering or suffocation, See pp. 13-14 of Statement of the Facts herein. He testified that foam in the area of the nose was suggestive of fluid in the lungs and drowning. Fluid in the sinuses was more than it should have been, and this was consistent with drowning. Other aspects of the examination were likewise consistent with drowning. The doctor also gave a detailed description of how drowning causes death, describing the initial holding of the breath, subsequent gasping for breath, the choking, the vomiting and the filling of the lungs with water, ultimately leading to respiratory arrest. The deliberate holding of breath and panic involved in the process require consciousness. Death is finally caused when the heart is stressed, with irregular beats. (T. 1057-58). The doctor

reiterated that his examination led him to believe that drowning contributed to Ms. Jones' death. (T. 1058). All of the foregoing testimony regarding drowning was admitted into evidence without any objection by defense counsel. On cross-examination, during the guilt phase, the doctor agreed that he could not say with a reasonable medical certainty, based solely on his physical examination, that Ms. Jones was conscious when she was thrown into the water. She could have lost consciousness during the manual strangulation which preceded her being thrown into the water.

Dr. Williams testified again in the penalty-phase proceedings. Once again, he reiterated that the foam from the nose and fluid in the lungs were consistent with drowning. (T. 1707-1708). He again reiterated that drowning was one of the three contributory causes of death. (T. 1711). Over defense objection, the witness was permitted to again testify as to the manner in which drowning causes death. (T. 1712-14). He asserted that the victim was alive when she was thrown into the water. (T. 1716).

With respect to the Appellant's argument that the drowning evidence was inadmissible in the penalty phase proceedings, such an argument is without merit insofar as the very same jury heard exactly the same evidence about the effect of drowning during the guilt-phase proceedings. The reiteration of such testimony cannot possibly be prejudicial when the jury has already heard it, and properly so, without objection. Furthermore, the doctor reiterated at the penalty phase that drowning was one of the three contributory causes of death. While an aggravating factor must be established by proof beyond a reasonable doubt, **see**, Johnson v. State, 438 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 1983), it is not true that every single piece of evidence adduced at the penalty phase must be established beyond a reasonable doubt before the evidence is admissible. Thus, although the doctor could not state with certainty, based solely upon his physical examination, that the victim was conscious when she was thrown into the water, he did believe, as a professional opinion, that drowning was a cause

of death, and that the victim was alive when she was thrown in the water.

The physical examination must also be considered in conjunction with other evidence. The defendant, in his statement, had asserted that he fought with the victim, choked her, knocked her down by the fence, taped her, and threw her over the fence and into the water. (T. 1381). His own actions, of taping her, after choking her and knocking her down, but prior to throwing her into the water, are indicative of the defendant's own belief that the victim was still alive and conscious. The only reason for so taping her, when he was going to throw her into the water, would be to prevent her from screaming for help, and prevent her from extracting herself out of the water, things she would be capable of doing only if she were still conscious. Thus, both the defendant's actions and the doctor's testimony are fully consistent with the victim being conscious when she was thrown into the water. Additional evidence of consciousness after Ms. Jones was thrown into the water consisted of the fact that her own blood and tissue was recovered from underneath her fingernails, and, some of the tape had apparently been kicked off of her feet and legs. (T. 939-40, 1142, 1148). As such, evidence regarding drowning was relevant to the HAC factor in the penalty phase proceedings.

In any event, the State would further note that the prosecutor's closing argument did not emphasize drowning in conjunction with the HAC factor. (T. 1218-26). The prosecutor's argument focused on what transpired prior to the defendant's act of throwing Ms. Jones (and the infant) into the water. Similarly, the trial court's written findings on HAC, while briefly referring to drowning just once, are almost exclusively predicated upon the various acts and struggles which transpired prior to the victims being thrown into the water. (R. 578-79). As mentioned previously, the evidence had already been heard, without objection, at the guilt phase. Under such circumstances, the drowning evidence adduced at the sentencing proceedings, if deemed error, was harmless VII.

# PROSECUTORIAL COMMENTS DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT DID NOT CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR AND, IN MANY OF THE ALLEGED INSTANCES, ARE UNPRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

#### A. <u>Alleged attacks on defense counsel, witnesses and mitigation evidence</u>

Of all the comments alluded to by the Appellant in this section of the Appellant's argument, see Brief of Appellant, pp. 66-68, only one was the subject of an objection. The prosecutor started talking generally about personal injury attorneys who use doctors who will testify about whiplash when you cannot see it, adding that doctors will say there is emotional distress when there is no other evidence of it. (T. 2250). Defense counsel objected, asserting that the comment ridiculed defense attorneys. (T. 2250). The prosecutor advised the judge that the comment was not directed against the attorneys, but against the doctors. (T. 2251). The judge "den[ied] the motion," apparently perceiving defense counsel to have moved for mistrial, even though no such motion was made. (T. 2251). The judge told the prosecutor that he was in "a serious problem," and that he should "clear it up." (T. 2251). The prosecutor proceeded to "clear it up," consistent with his arguments to the judge, by indicating to the jury that his comments had been directed towards Drs. Eisenstein and Toomer, and that these experts' opinions should be considered in light of facts shown by the evidence, as opposed to finger tapping tests. (T. 225 1-2). At no time did defense counsel ever object that the prosecutor's subsequent comments failed to adequately clear up the prior comments. As the thrust of the argument now being made on appeal is that the prosecutor's arguments, at that time, before, and after, were a relentless and improper attack on the psychological profession and its practitioners, the argument now being made is, in essence, quite different from that having been raised in the trial court. As such, it has not been properly preserved for appellate review. <u>See, e.g., Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So, 2d 32, 34-35 (Fla. 1985) ("In order to be preserved for review by a higher court, an issue must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal or review must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved,"). Moreover, as there was no motion for mistrial on such grounds nor a request for a curative, the claim is again unpreserved. <u>Ferguson, supra; Craig: v. State</u>, 5 10 So. 2d 857,964 (Fla. 1987) (same).

As to the remainder of the comments alluded to by the Appellant, the prosecutor had, on several occasions, minimized the significance of the experts' opinions regarding alleged brain damage, the IQ score, and the personality disorder. (T. 2240-41, 2244-47, 2233, 2054-55, 2249-50, 2229). None of these comments were objected to and, as such, any such claims are not preserved for appellate review. See, e.g., Carter v. State, 560 So. 2d 1166 (Fla. 1990) (failure to preserve claim that prosecutor improperly impugned defense counsel); Crump v. State, 622 So. 2d 963, 971-72 (Fla. 1993) (failure to preserve claim that prosecutor characterized defense as octopus clouding water to slither away); Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1018 (Fla. 1994) (failure to preserve claims regarding prosecutorial comments during penalty phase proceedings).

Furthermore, the Appellant's claim regarding a pervasive and improper attack on the expert witnesses is without merit. A prosecutor is permitted to question the testimony of expert witnesses when the arguments are based on the evidence. See, <u>generally</u>, <u>Craig v. State</u>, 5 10 So.2d 857, 865 (Fla. 1987). That is precisely what the prosecutor did in this case. Thus, with respect to Dr. Bergman, the prosecutor pointed out that Bergman found no major mental illness to exist, and further found that the defendant was not out of touch with reality, (T, 2233). As to Dr. Toomer, the prosecutor emphasized the extent to which Toomer routinely testified as a defense expert in capital

cases, (T. 2234-35). The prosecutor emphasized problems with the Carlson test, and crossexamination of Toomer had focused on those problems, (T. 2239-40). Similarly, the prosecutor focused on problems with the Bender tests, just as he had done in cross-examination of Toomer. (T. 2240). Likewise, the jury was advised of problems with the MMPI, including the dispute of the experts over the significant score which indicates a problem, the fact that the defendant's scores did not indicate a problem under a scale rejected by Toomer, but accepted by others, and the fact that the experts found the profile to be questionable, while acknowledging that the defendant was manipulative. (T. 2241-42, 2245-46) As to Dr. Eisenstein, the prosecutor again focused on the extent to which he has routinely testified as a defense witness. (T. 2243). As to the IQ score, when the prosecutor minimized it, that was done in the context of the evidence: the defendant was a high school graduate, who was honorably discharged from the army and had worked for years as a bailiff. (T. 2245). Numerous witnesses had testified that the defendant was either very intelligent, or of average intelligence; all found that the defendant communicated very well. With respect to the opinions about organic brain damage, the prosecutor emphasized that there had been no CAT scans or MRI's, thus emphasizing the absence of testimony from any medical doctors. (T. 2247). As to the minimization of the defendant's borderline personality (T. 2249-50), Drs. Bergman and Toomer had opined that it was not a major mental illness; and, the profiles essentially reflected that the defendant had a hard time dealing with stress. As noted by Dr. Bergman, the defendant's personality disorder was not uncommon. (T. 18 14). In short, the "attack" on the experts was, from beginning to end, predicated upon the evidence which the jury had heard. Comments on evidence are proper. Craig. supra.

In sum, the instant claim is unpreserved, and, in light of the totality of the comments, any error does not warrant reversal. <u>See</u>, <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1985) (multiple

improper comments by prosecutor during penalty phase did not warrant reversal, even where they were preserved for appeal).

#### B. <u>Golden Rule Arguments</u>

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